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Executive Summary

Australia is experiencing both an incarceration crisis and an unprecedented worker 
shortage. Sensible criminal justice reform can address the excessive burden on 
Australia’s prison system while also filling persistent job vacancies in the economy.

• According to the Australian Bureau of Statistics, there are currently close to 
450,000 jobs vacancies across the economy, which is double the number of job 
vacancies prior to covid-19. And close to one in four businesses have stated they 
cannot find the workers they need.

• In terms of incarceration, Australia’s incarceration rate has increased by 240 
per cent since the mid-1980s. This is three times our population growth rate. This 
is much higher than other commonwealth countries with similar legal systems, 
such as Britain and Canada, and more than double European countries such as 
Germany, The Netherlands, and Sweden.

The total cost to the Australian taxpayer of imprisoning roughly 42,000 prisoners is 
now nearly $4.5 billion annually. Over-incarceration imposes an additional cost on 
Australians by depriving our labour force of healthy, working age men and women 
who could otherwise be productive members of society.

Approximately 42 per cent of prisoners have not committed sexual or violent offences. Not 
imprisoning these low-risk non-violent offenders would support, and most likely enhance, 
their rehabilitation. It has been firmly established that many employers are prepared to 
employ people who have prior convictions for non-violent and non-sexual offences, and 
when they do employ such people they are invariably pleased with their decision.

If Australian governments reformed sentencing so that non-violent low-risk offenders 
were not detained at taxpayer expense, but rather were put to work in industries which 
urgently need workers, this could deliver substantial benefits to taxpayers without 
compromising community safety. 

If this reform had been implemented in 2021-22 as many as 14,000 young and 
healthy adults could have been added to the workforce, which would have improved 
government budgets by $1.95 billion in reduced incarceration costs and increased 
income tax revenue. If this reform had been implemented between 2016-17 and 2021-
22, total budgetary savings would have been in the order of $10.4 billion in reduced 
incarceration costs for state governments and additional income tax revenue for the 
federal government.

Diverting low-risk non-violent offenders from prison and giving them the opportunity to 
work would enhance their lives and prospects, promote community safety, improve the 
economy through increased productivity, and reduce net government spending and debt.
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Reform of Australia’s incarceration 
system is overdue

Australia imprisons more people than is financially sustainable or morally and 
jurisprudentially justifiable. 

The Institute of Public Affairs (IPA) has taken a leading role in providing empirically-
grounded reform proposals for the criminal justice system, with a particularly strong 
focus on addressing the problem of over-incarceration. IPA research released in 
October 2022, Australia’s Emerging Incarceration Crisis: Proposed Reforms of the 
Australian Sentencing System, noted:

in recent years, this problem has become more acute. Prison rates have continued 
to increase, with an enormous amount of public money being spent on prisons and 
no improvement in community safety.1 

Recent Australian Bureau of Statistics data shows that from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 
2021, the number of Australian prisoners increased by 5% to 42,970 inmates.2 The 
imprisonment rate grew from 205 to 214 prisoners per 100,000 adult population.3 
This trend is consistent with the pattern over the past few decades: in 1984, the 
incarceration rate was 85.6 prisoners per 100,000 adults.4 Thus, the prison 
population across Australia has nearly tripled in less than four decades. 

More recent statistics provided by the Productivity Commission confirm the ABS figures. 
Released in January 2023, the Productivity Commission’s Report on Government 
Services 2023 found the average daily number of prisoners in Australia was 41,176 in 
2021-22. This represented a 36.9 per cent increase since 2012-13.

There is also no considered attempt to match the severity of the crime and the 
harshness of the penalty. Of the 42,970 prisoners in custody, 27,680 were sentenced 
offenders and the remaining were on remand.5 Violent and sexual offenders accounted 
for 16,158 prisoners, while the remaining inmates had committed other offences such 
as theft, illicit drug offences and driving offences.6 Thus, approximately 42 per cent of 
prisoners had not committed sexual or violent offences.

1 Mirko Bagaric, Australia’s Emerging Incarceration Crisis: Proposed Reforms of the Australian Sentencing System 
(Institute of Public Affairs Research Report, October 2022) 1. 

2 Australian Bureau of Statistics, Prisoners in Australia (2021) <https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/people/crime-and-
justice/prisoners-australia/latest-release#data-download>.

3 Ibid. From 30 June 2020 to 30 June 2021, the number of Australian prisoners increased by 5% (1,910) to 42,970. 

4 Carlos Carcach and Anna Grant, ‘Imprisonment in Australia: Trends in Prison Populations & Imprisonment Rates 
1982-1998’ (Research Paper, No 130, Australian Institute of Criminality, October 1999) 3. 

5 Mirko Bagaric, Australia’s Emerging Incarceration Crisis: Proposed Reforms of the Australian Sentencing System 
(Institute of Public Affairs Research Report, October 2022) 5.

6 Ibid.
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By any international benchmark, Australia has one of the highest prison rates in 
the OECD.7 Countries which have higher rates are Turkey, Costa Rica, Columbia, 
Hungary, Mexico, Israel, Lithuania, Poland, Slovakia, the Czech Republic, and the 
United States.8 

The reflexive instinct to be tough on criminals is misguided and self-defeating if it is applied 
too broadly, as it is in Australia, and in particular to low-risk non-violent offenders. 

The Productivity Commission’s Report on Government Services 2023 revealed the 
cost to the taxpayer of detaining each prisoner per year is now $405 per day (or 
$148,891 annually).9 In 2021-22, net operating expenditure on corrective services 
was over $4.43 billion for prisons. This was a 4.5 per cent increase from the previous 
year.10 Moreover, data released by the Productivity Commission in 2022, shows that 
nearly one dollar in every 50 spent by state and territory governments is spent on 
prisons – and this is growing (Table 1). 

Table 1: Expenditure on prisons as a proportion of state and territory budgets11

Jurisdiction

Prison costs as 
a proportion of 
budget 2010-11a

Prison costs as 
a proportion of 
budget in 2019-20

Growth in level of 
real prison costsb

(%) (%) (%)
New South Wales 1.7 1.6 2.0
Victoria 1.2 1.6 7.3
Queensland 1.3 1.6 4.0
South Australia 1.2 1.6 4.5
Western Australia 2.2 2.5 3.9
Tasmania 1.4 1.4 2.0
Northern Territory 2.2 3.2 7.0
ACT 1.2 1.4 5.5
Total 1.5 1.7 4.2

 
a Percentages expressed as ratio of total prison expenditure to Government Financial Services. 

b Average annual growth in the real level of prison cost from 2011-12 to 2019-20.

Source: Productivity Commission, Australia’s Prison Dilemma (2021)

7 Mirko Bagaric, Dan Hunter and Jennifer Svilar, ‘Prison Abolition: From Naïve Idealism to Technological Pragmatism 
(2021) 111(2) Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology 351-406.

8 See Mirko Bagaric, Australia’s Emerging Incarceration Crisis: Proposed Reforms of the Australian Sentencing System 
(Institute of Public Affairs Research Report, October 2022).

9 Productivity Commission, ‘C8: Corrective Services’ in Report on Government Services 2023 (31 January 2023) 
https://www.pc.gov.au/ongoing/report-on-government-services/2023/justice/corrective-services table 8A.19. 
See also, Table 8A.1 and 8A.2. This is for the financial year 2021-22, and includes the net operating costs 
combined with the recurrent fixed costs of detaining each prisoner. 

10 Productivity Commission, ‘C8: Corrective Services’ in Report on Government Services 2023 (31 January 2023) 
https://www.pc.gov.au/ongoing/report-on-government-services/2023/justice/corrective-services table 8A.2.

11 Productivity Commission, Australia’s Prison Dilemma (Research Paper, October 2021) 58.
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Over-incarceration imposes an additional cost on Australians by depriving the labour 
force of healthy, working age men and women who could otherwise be productive 
members of society. It is an opportune time to consider how low-risk non-violent 
offenders can contribute to society, given the ongoing, unprecedented labour-shortage 
crisis in Australia, where according to ABS data, almost 450,000 jobs are vacant and 
almost one-in-four businesses cannot find the workers they need.

There is now a pressing need to implement sound sentencing policies to ameliorate 
the increase in prisoner numbers. By using data and proposals for reform outlined in 
previous IPA research, this report proposes governments should give low-risk non-
violent offenders the opportunity to pay for their crimes through work. This would 
facilitate rehabilitation (and therefore community safety), ameriorate the labour 
shortage, and reduce government spending on prisons. This report details the manner 
in which the offender employment program should operate, and highlights the other 
advantages of methodically reducing prison numbers in an evidence-based manner.
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Often there is no benefit from prison 

Sentencing has a number of objectives. The key ones are community protection, 
general deterrence, specific deterrence, rehabilitation, and retributivism. There is no 
strict hierarchy of these objectives. However, logically the main aim of the criminal 
justice system is to prevent harmful acts in a bid to protect individuals and the 
community. Thus, community protection has been recognised as the most important 
objective of sentencing. Brennan J stated in Channon v The Queen:

The necessary and ultimate justification for criminal sanctions is the protection of 
society from conduct which the law proscribes. Punishment is the means by which 
society marks its disapproval of criminal conduct, by which warning is given of 
the consequences of crime and by which reform of an offender can sometimes 
be assisted. Criminal sanctions are purposive, and they are not inflicted judicially 
except for the purpose of protecting society; nor to an extent beyond what is 
necessary to achieve that purpose.12 

The main manner in which sentencing law aims to protect the community is through 
incapacitation. The most effective means of incapacitation is imprisonment. The 
advantage of incapacitation is that while offenders are in prison, we can be sure 
the community is safe from their harmful acts. Community protection through 
incapacitation, however, has its limitations. 

First, logically, incarceration as a means of community protection is futile and excessive in 
the case of offenders who would not have reoffended during their period of incarceration 
in any event – although of course, it is not possible to predict the likelihood of this with 
regard to any particular offender. The second limitation of incapacitation as a means of 
community protection is that it only provides protection to the community for the duration 
of time that an offender is in prison. This is a particularly important limitation given that 
the most recent empirical data on recidivism shows that most offenders who are released 
from prison reoffend within a short period of time. The Productivity Commission Report 
on Government Services 2023 shows that 42.7 per cent of adult offenders released 
from prison in 2019-20 returned to prison within two years of release.13 The rate was 
the highest in the Northern Territory at 56.6% and lowest in Western Australia at 30.8%. 
Overall, for the 2021-22 year, 51.5% of prisoners who were released two years earlier 
returned to either prison or community corrections within two years.14 

The second principle that is sometimes violated as a result of incarceration is that of 
proportionality. This is the principle that the hardship imposed by the punishment should 
match the harm caused by the offence, or in short that ‘the punishment should fit the 
crime’. In Veen v The Queen [No 2], Mason CJ, Brennan, Dawson and Toohey JJ stated:

12 (1978) 20 ALR 1, 5 (emphasis added). This passage has been cited with approval in numerous cases, including 
Boulton v The Queen (2014) 46 VR 308.

13  Productivity Commission, ‘C: Justice’ in Report on Government Services 2023 (2023) <https://www.pc.gov.au/
ongoing/report-on-government-services/2023/justice >.

14 https://www.pc.gov.au/ongoing/report-on-government-services/2023/justice
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[t]he principle of proportionality is now firmly established in this country. It was the 
unanimous view of the Court in Veen [No.1] that a sentence should not be increased 
beyond what is proportionate to the crime in order merely to extend the period of 
protection of society from the risk of recidivism on the part of the offender …15 

The principle of proportionality does not operate to set a precise penalty. There is no 
single correct sentence16 but rather courts can impose a sentence within an ‘available 
range’ of penalties,17 the spectrum of which is defined largely by the proportionality 
principle.18 Also, it is difficult to apply the principle precisely because the legislatures 
and courts have not made any serious attempt to match the two limbs (the harm caused 
by the crime and the hardship inflicted by the sanction) of the principle: How many 
years of imprisonment correlate to the pain endured by a rape victim, for example? 

The main difficulty here is that the two currencies are different. The interests typically 
violated by criminal offences are physical integrity and property rights. When it comes 
to sanctions however, the main currency is (deprivation of) freedom – by imprisonment. 
Despite this disjunct there is a solution. Rigour and consistency can be injected into the 
proportionality principle if both aspects of the equation focus on the extent to which the 
interests and flourishing of victims and offenders are set back as a result of the crime 
and punishment, respectively.

The interests and flourishing of victims of serious sexual and violent offences based 
on quality-of-life indicators (eg. health, employment and relationship outcomes) are 
significantly diminished as a result of the crimes to which they have been subjected. 
In short, these offences significantly damage the lives of victims. Victims of property 
offences suffer far less.19 

In relation to the impact of sanctions, it emerges that prison is burdensome, and in fact 
to a greater extent than is manifest from the nature of the sanction. Prisoners have a 
lower life expectancy, and their lifetime income levels are greatly reduced compared 
to individuals with a similar profile who have not been imprisoned.20 Prison is a 
considerable deprivation. 

Proportionality requires the harshest sanctions to be reserved for the most serious 
crimes. The default position of the proposed reforms is that all serious sexual and 
violent offenders are sentenced to imprisonment. Fewer other types of offenders will be 
sentenced to imprisonment. 

15 Veen [No 2] [1988] HCA 14, 164CLR 465, 472. 

16 Boulton v The Queen (2014) 46 VR 308. 

17 See R v Creighton [2011] ACTCA 13; R v Hill [2010] SASCFC 79. 

18 Bradshaw v The Queen (2017) 269 A Crim R 67, 77 [40] (Kyrou and Redlich JJA) (‘Bradshaw’).

19 Mirko Bagaric, ‘From Arbitrariness to Coherency in Sentencing: Reducing the Rate of Imprisonment and Crime 
While Saving Billions of Taxpayer Dollars’ (2014) 19 Michigan Journal of Race and the Law 349 - 413

20 Mirko Bagaric, et al, ‘Mitigating the Incarceration Crisis: Redefining Excessive Imprisonment as a Human Rights 
Abuse’ (2017) 38 Cardozo Law Review 1663.
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The benefits of not imprisoning low-risk 
non-violent offenders

Savings to Public Revenue 

Pursuing alternatives to imprisoning low-risk non-violent offenders would have a 
number of concrete benefits. 

The first is a considerable financial saving to the community. Where low-risk non-
violent offenders are imprisoned, taxpayers bear the burden of detaining the offender 
in prison, while also being deprived of the taxation revenue that would flow from that 
offender being employed. Presently, the marginal cost of imprisoning a low-risk non-
violent offender is $107,709 per annum, but if this kind of offender were sentenced 
to an alternative sanction and able to work for just the weekly minimum wage of 
$772.6021, and pay tax on that income at a rate of $94 per week22, it would result in a 
net benefit to the budget of $112,597 per prisoner, per year. In the 2021-22 financial 
year, this would have amounted to a total potential saving to taxpayers of $1.95 billion 
(Table 2).

Table 2: Potential net benefit to government budgets from putting low-risk 
non-violent offenders (LR-NV) to work23

  2020-21 2021-22
Marginal cost of imprisoning a LR-NV 
offenders24

$100,816 $107,709

Tax revenue per minimum wage worker25 $4,680 $4,888
Benefit to budget from putting LR-NV to work $105,496 $112,597
Low-risk non-violent offenders26 17,678 17,294
Potential net benefit to budget $1,864,941,204 $1,947,249,061

21 Minimum wage for the financial year 2021-22

22 Australian Taxation Office, ‘Weekly tax table’, https://www.ato.gov.au/rates/weekly-tax-table/

23 Rounding of numbers may mean totals don’t add up

24 Total marginal cost of operating prisons in Australia divided by the total number of prisoners: Productivity 
Commission, ‘8 Corrective Services’ in Report on Government Services 2022 (2022) Table 8A.2, 8A.4 https://
www.pc.gov.au/ongoing/report-on-government-services/2022/justice/corrective-services

25 Australian Taxation Office, ‘Weekly tax table’, https://www.ato.gov.au/rates/weekly-tax-table/

26 42% of prisoners, who are not imprisoned for violent or sexual crimes, as provided by the Productivity Commission: 
Mirko Bagaric, Australia’s Emerging Incarceration Crisis: Proposed Reforms of the Australian Sentencing System 
(Institute of Public Affairs Research Report, October 2022) 5.
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The accumulative net benefit to the budget this could have achieved if implemented 
in 2016-17 would have been over $10 billion, at an average of over $1.7 billion per 
year (see calculations in Appendix A).

This is an approach that has been recently endorsed by the Productivity Commission: 
‘given the high costs of imprisonment it is worth pursuing opportunities to divert low-
risk offenders from prison sentences or convictions where this can be done without 
jeopardising community safety’.27

The sentencing systems of all Australian jurisdictions already have community 
corrections sanctions which often involve a work component. This is far less expensive 
than prison. As noted by the Productivity Commission: 

Prisons are expensive, costing Australian taxpayers more than $5 billion per year, 
or more than $330 per prisoner per day. In contrast, alternative punishments, 
such as community corrections orders, may have much lower costs. A community 
corrections order can cost as little as $30 per prisoner per day…28 

As discussed below, community corrections orders can provide the template for 
sanctions which involve an extensive work component. 

Addressing the Labour Shortage 

Another concrete benefit of reserving prison for sexual and violent offenders is that there 
would be approximately 14,000 additional Australians in the community each year on 
average, who would contribute to the social and financial fabric of the community. 

Australia is currently facing an unprecedented, country-wide shortage of workers. This 
is undermining economic output and growth by limiting the ability of businesses to meet 
their production, with flow-on effects on wages and government revenue.

Addressing this worker shortage should be a high priority for state and federal 
governments. Australia’s international borders have been re-opened since the beginning 
of 2022, yet worker shortages are still increasing, with the Australian Bureau of Statistics 
reporting 444,200 job vacancies in the November 2022 quarter. More than a quarter 
of businesses across the country report being affected by this issue.29

27 Productivity Commission, Australia’s Prison Dilemma (Research Paper, October 2021) 79: <https://www.pc.gov.au/
research/completed/prison-dilemma/prison-dilemma.pdf>.

28 Ibid, 3.

29 Australian Bureau of Statistics, “Job Vacancies, Australia, November 2022,” (January 2023), https://www.abs.gov.
au/statistics/labour/jobs/job-vacancies-australia/latest-release 



9www.ipa.org.auInstitute of Public Affairs

Chart 1: Job vacancies across Australia

 
 

Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics

According to the Australian Bureau of Statistics, the three industries which are most 
affected by worker shortages are health care and social assistance, accommodation 
and food services, and retail trade. In each of these industries, job vacancies have 
drastically increased since 2020 (Table 3).30

Table 3: Three industries most affected by worker shortage (2020-2022)

Industry
Job Vacancies: 
May 2020 (000’s)

Job Vacancies: 
August 2022 
(000’s)

Increase 
(%)

Health Care and 
Social Assistance

19.7 62.7 218%

Accommodation 
and Food Services

5.0 56.3 1026%

Retail Trade 11.4 49.9 338%

Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics

Further increasing migration is not an adequate solution to this immediate problem. 
According to data reported in the Australian Financial Review, of the almost 60,000 
permanent visa applications the government is fast-tracking to address the worker 
shortage, only 438 are health professionals, and just 32 are registered aged care 
nurses.31 At a time when an estimated one-quarter of aged care shifts are going 
unfilled,32 there is a clear need for a more effective solution. Rather than taking the 
short-sighted option of simply further increasing migration, governments should 

30 Ibid

31 David Marin-Guzman, ‘Of 60,000 visa applicants in the queue, 32 are aged care nurses,’ Australian Financial 
Review, 24 July 2022 <https://www.afr.com/work-and-careers/workplace/of-60-000-visa-applicants-in-the-
queue-32-are-aged-care-nurses-20220724-p5b419>.

32 Sarah Martin, ‘“Absolutely a crisis”: almost a quarter of Australia’s aged care shifts unfilled each week,’ The 
Guardian, 3 February 2022 <https://www.theguardian.com/australia-news/2022/feb/03/absolutely-a-crisis-
almost-a-quarter-of-australias-aged-care-shifts-unfilled-each-week>; ACIL Allen, Implications of Labour Shortages 
in the Aged Care Sector (Final Report, December 2021) 13 <https://acilallen.com.au/uploads/projects/445/
ACILAllen_ImplicationsLabourShortagesWA_2022.pdf>. 
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immediately change policy settings to allow for greater workforce participation. One 
such policy setting that is available to lawmakers is allowing low-risk and non-violent 
offenders to work.

Matching prisoners to jobs is a readily achievable goal given that most inmates are 
young and healthy. Approximately 77% of prisoners are under the age of 45 and 
the median age of prisoners is 35.6 years.33 The cohort of people with the highest 
imprisonment rate is those aged 30-34 years, with a rate of 415 per 100,000 
compared with an imprisonment rate of 30 per 100,000 aged 65 and over.34 While 
most prisoners do not have tertiary education, as noted above, there is a huge labour 
shortage currently in Australia in areas which do not require formal education, such as 
the hospitality and retail sectors. 

There is already a template for facilitating prisoners to work. All Australian jurisdictions 
impose sanctions in the form of community service orders. These are for offences that 
are serious but not deemed serious enough to justify imprisonment. Community service 
orders have a number of core requirements including not reoffending during the term of 
order and submitting to drug and alcohol tests. There are also additional requirements, 
which often include the requirement to complete unpaid community work. The work 
component of community corrections orders consists of community service work and 
includes activities ‘such as painting, cleaning and repairing services for pensioners 
or community groups, as well as rubbish removal, ground maintenance and bush 
regeneration projects’.35

The proposed reform would considerably extend the work component of community 
services orders. Instead of being sentenced to prison, low-risk non-violent offenders 
would be required to work forty hours per week for between six months to three years. 
The work would be in the private or public sector and offenders would receive the 
award payment for their work. In order to implement the reform, Corrections would 
match the skill set and work capacity of those offenders eligible to be employed 
with the needs of employers who approach Corrections looking for workers. Once 
the initial introduction was made, the offender would be subjected to the normal job 
vetting and interview process undertaken by the employer. Offenders who could not 
secure employment would instead do volunteer work for forty hours per week. 

It has also been firmly established that many employers are prepared to employ 
people who have prior convictions for non-violent and non-sexual offences and when 
they do employ such people they are invariably pleased with their decision.36 It is a 
win/win for the employer and employee – and the wider community. 

33 Australian Bureau of Statistics, Prisoners in Australia, 2021 (9 December 2021): <https://www.abs.gov.au/
statistics/people/crime-and-justice/prisoners-australia/latest-release>.

34 Ibid. 

35 Aston Legal, ‘A Guide to Community Service Orders’ <https://www.findlaw.com.au/articles/4576/a-guide-to-
community-service-orders.aspx>.

36 Peter Atherton, ‘Employing with conviction: The experiences of employers who actively recruit criminalised people’ 
(2021) 68(2) Probation Journal 186-205; Tom Idle, ‘The case for employing ex-offenders’ (12 December 2018) 
<https://www.virgin.com/about-virgin/latest/case-employing-ex-offenders>.
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Thus, work-focused community service orders should apply to all non-violent and non-
sexual offenders who are prepared to work full time; and it should be a condition of 
the sanction that they perform satisfactorily in their job – for which they would be paid 
award wages. 

Prisoner Rehabilitation 

The third benefit of not imprisoning low-risk non-violent offenders is that it would 
support, and most likely enhance, the rehabilitation of these offenders. This would 
increase community safety by reducing the reoffending rate of offenders. There are no 
far-reaching rehabilitative techniques that are successful for all offenders.37 However, 
it is clear that unemployment and poor education levels are associated with much 
higher levels of criminal activity. As noted by the Productivity Commission, ‘research 
has consistently found that crime and recidivism outcomes are associated with lower 
educational attainment and employment’.38 

The profile of Australia’s prison population is set out by the Productivity Commission: 

The prison population comes from disproportionately disadvantaged backgrounds 
compared to the general population. Factors such as unemployment, lower 
educational attainment, intergenerational incarceration, previous imprisonment, 
substance abuse and mental illness are considered to be risk factors correlated 
with imprisonment. In 2018, 23 per cent of prison entrants aged 25–34 were 
unemployed compared to 4.8 per cent of the same age group in the general 
population (measured in the 2016 census). People in prison are also less likely to 
have completed high school. Of prison entrants aged 25–34, 78 per cent have 
not completed high school compared to 20.5 per cent of this age group in the 
general population. Moreover, prisoners are more likely to have experienced 
homelessness before entering prison: in 2018, 5.3 per cent of prison entrants were 
sleeping rough or in nonconventional housing compared to 0.035 per cent in the 
general population.39 [Citations removed]

Thus, we see that offenders who are sentenced to prison are generally from lower 
socio-economic backgrounds. In particular young prisoners (aged 25-34) are 
approximately five times more likely to be unemployed than other people in their age 
group. Another illuminating statistic from the above analysis is the nearly 80 per cent 
of young prisoners who have not completed high school—which is approximately four 
times higher than the non-completion rate of other young adults.

Sending people to prisons simply compounds these problems. In particular, once 
prisoners are released they find it difficult to secure employment due to the stigma of 
having served time in prison and the lost opportunity to gain or enhance job skills while 

37 Mirko Bagaric, Australia’s Emerging Incarceration Crisis: Proposed Reforms of the Australian Sentencing System 
(Institute of Public Affairs Research Report, October 2022) 11.

38 Productivity Commission, Australia’s Prison Dilemma (Research Report, October 2021) 65 <https://www.pc.gov.
au/research/completed/prison-dilemma/prison-dilemma.pdf>.

39 Ibid, 20.
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in prison.40 As a result of this, prisoners have a lower level of life-time earnings than 
other people, thereby consolidating and compounding the economic disadvantage 
of many offenders. Further, sending people to prison does not deter them from 
recommitting crime (the theory of specific deterrence has been shown to be a fallacy); 
rather prison has a small criminogenic effect – it increases the rate of reoffending.41

Thus, a very important component of reducing recidivism levels is to increase the 
employment rate of people who are at risk of reoffending, by ensuring that people 
who have offended stay in employment or, if they are not employed, that they secure 
employment. It is well-established that prisoners who secure employment shortly after 
release from prison are also less likely to recidivate.42 

40  See, Eileen Baldry et al, A Future Beyond the Wall: Improving Post-release Employment 
Outcomes for People Leaving Prison (Final Report, 2018). Further, as noted in Productivity Commission, Australia’s 
Prison Dilemma (Research Report, October 2021) 65 <https://www.pc.gov.au/research/completed/prison-
dilemma/prison-dilemma.pdf>.

41 Productivity Commission, Australia’s Prison Dilemma (Research Report, October 2021) 53: https://www.pc.gov.
au/research/completed/prison-dilemma/prison-dilemma.pdf states: ‘Community-based orders appear to 
perform better than prison in terms of rehabilitation, with evidence of relatively higher rates of reoffending for 
incarceration. More specifically, there is evidence that intensive corrections orders are more effective at reducing 
reoffending than short terms of imprisonment, especially among offenders classified as high risk of reoffending. 
Supervised community corrections sanctions (with conditions) appear to produce better rehabilitation outcomes than 
unsupervised community sanctions, notwithstanding differences among cohorts of offenders.’ [Citations removed]

42 Ibid.
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Conclusion: let them work 

It is unacceptable that in 2022 governments still make sentencing decisions based 
on the perception that the community wants to be ‘tough on criminals.’ Jurisprudential 
principles and empirical learning regarding the appropriate response to crime and 
offenders need to assume greater prominence in the criminal justice system. One of the 
pillars of any evidence-based criminal justice system is that prison should be reserved 
for the offenders who significantly damage the lives of victims. Thus, sexual and violent 
offenders should be imprisoned. There are more appropriate ways to deal with low-
risk non-violent offenders. 

The key objectives that inform sentencing decisions are: 

1. Reducing crime;

2. Punishing criminals appropriately;

3. Minimising the cost of the system; and

4. Ensuring that the system does not violate important moral norms. 

Application of these principles in the context of low-risk non-violent offenders means 
that they should be diverted from prison and given the opportunity to work in the 
areas of their competence and skill-set. This would enhance their lives and prospects, 
promote community safety, improve the economy through increased productivity, and 
reduce net government spending and government debt. 
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Appendix
Table 4: Full calculation of potential net benefit to government budgets from 
putting low-risk non-violent offenders to work

Year
Marginal cost of 
prisons43

Average 
daily 
number of 
prisoners44

Marginal 
cost of 
prisons, per 
Prisoner

Annual tax 
revenue per 
offender working 
at minimum 
wage45

Net Benefit 
to Budget 
Per Prisoner

Low-risk 
non-violent 
offenders46

Potential net benefit 
to budget

2016-17  $ 3 440 637 000 40 059 $ 85 889 $ 3 796 $ 89 685 16 825 $ 1 508 934 405

2017-18  $ 3 690 638 000 41 867 $ 88 151 $ 4 056 $ 92 207 17 584 $ 1 621 389 232

2018-19  $ 3 831 577 000 43 115 $ 88 869 $ 4 316 $ 93 185 18 108 $ 1 687 417 763

2019-20  $ 4 015 365 000 43 009 $ 93 361 $ 4 524 $ 97 885 18 064 $ 1 768 173 841

2020-21  $ 4 243 355 000 42 090 $ 100 816 $ 4 680 $ 105 496 17 678 $ 1 864 941 204

2021-22  $ 4 435 039 000 41 176 $ 107 709 $ 4 888 $ 112 597 17 294 $ 1 947 249 061

TOTAL $ 10 398 105 505

43 Productivity Commission, ‘Report on Government Services 2023 – Corrective Services’ https://www.pc.gov.au/
ongoing/report-on-government-services/2023/justice/corrective-services 

44 Ibid

45 The rising number over time is a reflection of the rising minimum wage from year to year: Australian Taxation Office, 
“Weekly tax table”, https://www.ato.gov.au/rates/weekly-tax-table/

46 42% of prisoners, who are not imprisoned for violent or sexual crimes, as provided by the Productivity Commission 
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